Chapter XXV.
Villages upon the Boscawen Road.

Oon March I,I734/5,the Proprietors held a mecting and 1t was'"Voted
that John Chandler shall have liberty to build a saw mill on Rattleanake,
brook and 1liberty of a convenient yard for his logs and boards and liber.
ty to flow the great pond called Rattlesnake pond #*#%## Juring the term
of fiftéen,&ears."This was the beginning of that imdustry along the brook
vhich,in due time, resulted in the village of weat Concorde.

Capt. John Chundler had a younger brother Abiel(b.I7I7) and each i
had married a sister of Capt.Nzthaniel &bbot,a leading ploneer in Pennye
cook.Capt.Abbot urged his brother-in~law to joln the local group and used
his influence to help him become surveyor of wighways in I743.As early as
1739 Abiel was in Rumford and was elected fence viewer.Nsturally he be-
came interestes in the plang for the new mills on Rattlesnake brook,unw=
der the leadership of his older brother.The enterprise was,lindeed,a famlJY
17 affair with the arrival in town im I745,of young Capt.Henry Léve oy
(b.I7I4) who ,with his wife Phebe(sister of Capt.Jphn Chatidler) and three
small children,established his home on the site of present Gérriﬂon
Scéool by the brook. a

Abiel Chandler lived only apout ten years after coming to Rumford,
dying in his early thirtles.The inventory of hls estate included a quart-
er interest in a saw mil‘valued at I25 pounds and a dwelling house valuﬁd
at 60 pounds.Presumably"this property was on Rattlesnake brook sinee hie
family was assigned to the Lovejoy garrison in I746.(see Chap.VII.)

A third young man lived in this nelghborhood-Zebedlah Farnum- who
with his wife,Mary ¥alker,made a home near the flrst dam bullt on Rattle=~
spake brook.It 1s recorded that CEpt.Henry Igvejoy and Zebediah had been
boyhood friends in the old home in Andover,and that they shared 1in bulld~
ing the grist mill which followed the saw mill on the brook,and in cone
struction of the later dam and a forge in I748.The plan for Rumford's

third set of mills was a challenging one when Capt.John Chandler was
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gronted his privilege.The locetion was a wilderness and hardly &
s settler had dared to make a home so far from the village strest.As yet
the Fmrnume had not settled on Retilesunake Blain:the Abbots had not bow
begun thelr home on the site of Bwenson Granlite Co.and thelyr cousing
on Beaver Meadow would not arrive for almost a generatlon later,lhere
was,nevertheless,promise of patronsge for Contoocook Plantation({Boscawen
was clready( I735) in procesg of eettlement and hardy ploneers were
plarnning to settle fanterbury.

There waz,probably,ne sdequate yoad north of our village street,
but our ploneers were used 4o ri%ding and tramping wilderness tralls,
In ITA6 a roazd to Poscawsn wag in use,extending along Plne Plein,seo-call
so-~called by the pioneers,which lay at the base of Rsttlesnake range
and comprised the upland as far north as the high river banks by %eaV@r
Mezdow.The name Plne Plain indicates the heavy forest which ther and for
years to come,lined the highway.In I727 the Proprietors had lald out sevs
enteen 1ois on the intervale east of thig forest upland and called it
Rattlesnake Ploin,numbering the lots up river.It was on Pine Plain that
Hest Village evenfually came into beling.

in June I745%5,Capt.lovejoy and his wife joired the loeal church

by letter from Scuth Church,Andover and before the Indlan raids of the
following year they occuonied their house on the site of Garrison School
with the grist mill nearby.As soon as immedlate danger of Indian attack
wag over,he bullt his second dam on the brook at about 40 rods west of
his housge,tbus Tlooding the swamp land and creating Forge pond,connected
with Long poné by a section of the brook.The present dam raises the leve
2] 0 that Forge pond ls a part of the largser pond.On hig new dam,love-
Joy bullt a shop and installed a water wheel and forge for manufacure of
bhar iron(Chapter VIII).Bslow this dam,he Bug & channel to deflect the
brook to @ place nesr his house''where the formation of the ground offere

@ eood site for a mill",according to Levi Hulchins who owned the property
later.The brook now follows that channel.
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Jogiah Parnum,lagt of the five brothers to come fronxAndover,Mase.
to Rumfofd,was the next owner of the mill property and the 1argé farm
the fields of which lay east of the highway on the intervale.There were
ronr sofs in the family:Theodore fought in the battle at Bennington and
Eben served under Capt.Daniel Livermore in I777.Three of the éons bﬁilt
a grist mill on the site provided‘bylthe new channel for the brook.in
the meantimé new neighbors settled near the mills.Henry Rolfe had a
homestead farm next south of Josizah Fernum's and in I788 he sold a part
of 1t to Danlel"FarnhamJosiah's nephew,who already owned 2 half share
in the grist mill sold to him'by Henry Rolfe two years earlier.With the
gale of this sheare of the mill went half df "th® privilege of the mill
from Amos Abbot's land to the foot of Long pond."In I795 Danlel Farnum
sold his mill rights.to"Jonath@n Runnels Jr.of Concord, trader" together
with land and buildings on"the north side of the highway from Concord
Meeting House to Boscawen"{l.e.the section now Knight st)Jonathan R&nﬂalq
was a brother of Joseph Runnels at Broad Cove.He married ﬁutﬁ.ﬁarnum but
did not staj long in-Concord,retﬁfning to his former home in Boxford,
Magg.before I8II.

Already conditions were vastly changed from C;pt.Lovéjoy'e day.?h@_
farms around Long pond,on Carter hill and on Beaver Weadow were fully |
developed and adding to nelghborhood prosperity.Ilmprovements in high-
ways brought advantage to the hamlet.In I796 the town accepted a road
four hundred rods long"from the southwest corner of Jonathan Runneler!g
Barn to the west end of ‘the lane leading to Jabez Abbot's house."This

lCOrresponds to the present highwéy from a point near Hutchlns St.along"'
the east side of tha cemetery and past Beaver Meadow Golf Club to th@'
Elms which is Jabez Abbot's old home.It indicates the abandonment of
the detour hitherto made through Kn&ghﬁIStfand across Hutchins St. to
avold the deep ravine which 1s néw filled in to the highway level.It

also givés a clue to the location of Jonathan Runnels's; house.In 1804
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the town accepted the highway as it now runs to Penacook west of the
bemetery and in IB8I9 improvement was mads on the Boscawen road by filling
in the"Gulf'"near the present railroad crossing and by building a stone
water course over Hoit's brook in Willow Hollow south of Penacook.
Josiah Farnum dled about I795 and his son,Eben,inherited the farm.
In ;798 the grist mill which he and his two brothers had built years be-
fore,was torh down and replaced by a saw mill and for more than fifty
years to come a saw mill operated'on the spot.To replace the grist mill,
Ebenezer Duston and a Mr.Howe bullt a new one on the 5rook in ths village
using th2 grinding stones of the old mill.At length thése mlll stones
became the proverty of Nathaniel Baker's grandfather and he carried them
to a grist mill which he owned 1n the Borough.

The Duston mill may have been the one whigh is said to havé stood
where the present Hodgdon mill stands and which was used both as & grist
mill and a woolen mill.Certain it is that Levi Hutchins manufactured
woolen cloth as proﬁea by his. advertisemént 1ﬁ the N.H.Patriot in I8I3,
for a weaver.Two years earliér Reuben Johnson of the Horse~hill family,
was' carrying on a wool-carding and fulling business on the brook direct~
ly east of ths highway. |

‘¥hen Levi Hutchins took over the mill property and farm and
moved to West Parish in I808 he was forty-seven years old;he;made his
home thers until his death forty-seven years later.Those yecars eaw the
development of a small hamlet with a few'small industries into a t%r;v-
1ng'v111age with slzable mills,and fevl Hutchins had a leading pgrtiin
that growth.It 1is fitting thﬁt his Qéme is perpetuated in West Concord
today.When the second bﬁilding of West Chur ch was planned,William Cool-
edge of New York)desoended from the o0ld man,donated a lot from the Hutch-
ins farm on condition that the street to be opened on its north side
should be cglled Hutchins St.Quaker St.ig a2lso a reminder of this old-

time citizen for he and his wife joined the Friends meeting in {oncord
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Street although in his later years,Mr.Hubchins withdrew.ﬂé and his wife
are buriled in that section .of th. 01ld quying-ground in Concord,directly
nortn of the'Minot Enclosure,which was set apart for a Quaker burial
plgce.Quaker custom prevented marking of graves but mrs.Hutchins's grave
has a stone.Her husband's grave 1g unmarked except for am S.A.R.marker
placed by Rumford Chapter D.A.R.

The peetrait here shown is feproduced from fhe Autbbiography which
was written at the age of ninety-two.He is described asﬂ Tall,nearly six
feet,features regular,eyes blue,expresgion bndlcated thoughtfqlness and
a good disposition."It ls recorded that an aged Quaker lady once sald to
his son:" Thy father was the handsomest man in his youth that I ever saw'

Two neighbors and friends of Levi Hutching merit our attention.
One was "Soldier"John Elllott(b.I765)whose f‘ather}lived at the Borough.
Hz uged to tell of hisg experiences during the Revolution,especiall?; of
the time he marched with Washington®s army "in the Jarseys,Trentown and
Princetown."He was also a veteran of the War of I8I2.It is recorded that
he planted four elms for Robert Davis 2d who was living in thé Joshua
Abbot house on the gite of the North Church?%hat for two consecutive dayes
in I8I8,"Soldier"Jehn tramped down from West Village,bringing by hand
each day two trees to 8¢t before the hbgsa.They grew until they afched
over the main street but were destroyed when fire congumed the first
church built ow the site."goldier" John iived on that sectlon of the old
BoscawenAroad which,after crossing Hutching St.ran parallel and to the
west of the present highway.After his death the small building was moved
to a place near No.30 Hutchins.St.and used ag a shop.Around the cellar
hole where it first stood,lillies of the vailey bloomed each spring fqr
many years.

The otherrneighbor was Robert Wilking who lived very near "soldier"
John.His pension papers show that he enlisted at his home town of Amherast

fought at Bunker Hill and was wounded by & musket ball in his right elbow

* i wrd Tosbecs i Rinects
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Joint ,¢rippling hig lower arm.Nevertheless he enlisted again in January
I776 as a sergeant and servad continuously until his discharge in Novem-
ber I783.During his last year of service he held commigsion as a lieuten-
ant.Eighteen years old when he fought at Bunker Hill,he was later hénored
by service as adjutant to Lafayette.In I786 he married Widow Matilde Ab-
bot in Hillsboro and threse children‘ﬁere born to the couple.When he came
to Concord is uncertain,but he died in Boston,August 20,f832. |
Conditions along Rattlesnake brook were ideal for the tanning
business and in I7§4,Isaac Dow,brother of Moody Dow in District No.4,
bought land on the east side of the highway and on the north side of the
brook.The vats used by this"tanner and eurrier" were on the roadside and>
his drying frames hung with redolent hides were in the dooryard of his
house.That house stands today &s pictured." He was,writes Bouton,"a menr
of native good ssnse and sound Judgment;often employed in town'affairs
#*#*### g man of integrity and firm purvose;strong in his political prefer;
ences,and attached to the democratic party.His influence wasg always on
the gide of.morals,good order,education and religion."Isaac Dow had a tam—
11y of twelve children,but he lived to see death’take eight of them from
jim."Greatly afflicted**=## but resigned to ths will of God;he cheerful -
1y bore the trials of life and infirmities of age."

Another tanner along this brook was Abner FParnum,Jr.whose plant
burned in mid-winter of ISII.He rebuilt and continued business as late
as I830.His house stands tbday next north of the old.store. |

The yearvIBOS marked the real’ beginning of West Parish Village for
it was then that William Fisk,a member of the gpewpof young men who ml-
grated from Amherst to Concord,arrived on the seene and bullt the tévern
shown as it now stand&.The new stage to Hanover which twice a week con-
nected with the stage from Concord to Portsmouth,afforded patronage to
the tavern in addition to the regular traffic to and from thé north coun-

try.The great barns which often sheltered sixty horses for the night,long
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ago dlsappeared.

Two years later a yeung man from Bescawen named Orlando Brown
purchased the tavern and gsrved aslandlord until hieg.death in I836.His
widow and a son continu-d the buginess until 1850 when,with the coming
of the raillrosd,travel by coscih and chaisge go diminishsed that wayside
taverns lamgulshcd.In lte early yesrs svery spairs frook and cornar of
the tavern was Tilled with ehildren Tor Orlando.and hia wifs raiged a
brood of geven.In addition to the family,lravdsir Brown-born in Bridge-
water in [744,and & veteran of the Revolutlon-aisy lived iw the house-
nold.Doubtless he foregathered with the othsr old soldiers in the lmme-
dista ncighborhood.

rom an old nGWSMa#@r clipping comeg this tribute by Je.W.Moore:
"The genial facs of Orlaprdo Brown appeared at Lhs open doer of hils inn
on the hill to greet travellers as well as th2 nagsengers in the Hanover
stage as 1t was gracefully driven up by Nat White who drove nis four
white horses with regularity shd safety,always giving them otlma to
hreathe while tho pagsengsrs wet thelr whisgtle with Orlando’s'best and
the driver hsd time to deliver his wpil baga."

Tn 1809 Abel Clough bought land along the north side of the
brook with 1ils vor therly boundary along present ¥nlght St.,with Privi-
lsze of neing water from the brook for the housee and barn us T CIOUFL wag
a blackamlth-verhans the first to locate in the village and his house
ie snown in our victure.Ilt has been modernized with a steep pitched
roof and large wimdows,bus the door-stone with its wrought 1xron scraper

. ) . . . 88 .
for mucdy shoes’ls as it used to be.Indoors there are flrevlaces with

:-g

crans and hand wrought aﬁdirons which UPDL% % are the product of Abs

Clougn'a smithy.There lg pine waingeol 1n 0nag o® tihe front rooms and

the gmall hall in front of the blg central chimney has & windlng staire
Eack of the two front rooms is the long kitchen and many of the

utengils of a century and more ago are praserved there: ths hand loom,
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the bread trough,the Dutch oven,the "spider’ with 1its three foot long

401 =

wrought iron handle and other reminders of the dayve when cookiang was
done in the open Flreplace or its brick oven.In the backyard is the olg
well with 1ts oaken hucket.”{Mrs.Henry H.Chase)In IB4Y the tracks of the
Concurﬁ & Claremont R.R.were lald acxos&lﬁbel Clough's garden.

The firat schoolhiouse for this sectlon was bullt as carly as 1770

in the angle of Lake View Drive and the Hopkinton road over Hobbs hill,

and 1t served in later years for Dictriet No.3.The secdnd schoolhouse
was bullt In the west angle of the Hopkinton road and the anglent Boge
cowen road,at a point directly west of No.20 Hutehins 5t. One of the

s

most Tamous teaghers In Digstrict No.%-2 man who taught in oiher Concord

Districts as welle wag John Jarvis. Mr.Jervis came from Pembroke about

r—i
I‘u
Lt
-

.o take over Reuben Johnson's fulling mill ow the intervale east
of the nighway.His dwelling house was near the mill.

2

lirJarvis began teaching in the Dlgtrict in IEIQ before he moved
to town and he continued Lo teach every winter save two untll I854.Hls
2k11l in penmanship wes fawed butl his influence on his puplls wie his
great ass&t;”ﬁﬁ velieved that eduecatlon applied to the spirltual ang
woyal newds of chlldren as well as to the purely intellectual.” asa a
result of such standard,his own fine character waeg buallt into that of
lmprecsionable youth go fortunste as to come undsr his pguldance.lr.
Jarvis was one of the founders of West Church in I83I and later served
ag 1ts dzacon.
In I821 the"Corn Mill of Walker & Flanders"stood on the east
of' the highway where the hrook @rops steeply to the intervole.This miil
wes on the south side of the Jorook directly across from Tusse Dow's ts
yard anc & shor{ time later, lir.Dow tonk over the miil.In 1824 he took

John Ji ] IS Ty Y e .
grvis into partnerahi ip.About the sane time,a houge weg being builé

next south of the grist mwill bv Aled Rl T
ne grist mill by sbel Baker,Jr. whose father bullt the
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fesf grist mill in the Borough The young man marri:d Nancy Bradley,daughter
of Samuel Bradley,and carried on a lumbsr business along the C né&oocook
and the Merrimack,making his home in West Village until after his wife'
death whan he movad to Concord.In their early~wedded yeara the Bakers
lived in Henniker and there,in I1818,a son,Nathaniel Bradlsy Baksr,was
vorn.Hs studied law with Franklin Piercs,was governor of New Hampshire
in 1854 and A#{jutant General of Iowa in I86I,in which office he did no-
table gervice during the Civil War.He di=d in Dss Moines in I876 and :
gratafoel Union spldlers esrected a monumant to hig msnory.
Coming to West Perish from Henniker,ibel Raker,Jr.vurchased in I82
a half acre lot on the hlghway énd vrobably built thz house which atana
there.our nicture shows it as 1t is today after conglderable mudernliszin
ag to exterior;The interior still keeps original and interssting featur
The sma&ll square hall is opeén to the third floor and the stalirway has
two landings between the first and second floors.The old chimney back ©
the gtairs was torn down and the bricks were found to be of the ancient
handmade tyve,laid in eclay.The floor timbers are of sound hard pins and
the frbnt windows originally had sliding panelled shuttafe,same of whic
are now used as cupboard doors in the rantry .The house had the fireplac
and ths brick oven comnmon o housges of the period.The»front door has un
usual sidelights of moulded glass. _
~The grist mill on the west side of th=s highway changed owners du
ing these years.In I8I2 Moses Ferrin owned half of ths mill and in I82¢
ne sold that share to Samuel Baker,younger brother of Abel,Jr.The land
with tﬁis mill seems to have been west of the present rallroad track
and the dwalling house was on the south side of Enight 5t.In 1828 Baker
sold the property since he was migrating to ths Wast.
A house interesting because of its assoclations,is shown in our
cooy of an old photograph.It was bullt by William Fisk who hac built Ul

tavern."Cordwainer anG shosmaker'by trade,he lived in the village as
?
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early as I803when he bought twenty-Tive scregs of land.Adding to this in
1817 and I8I8,he owned a small faram gtretcning to the river-all a part

of Levl Mutching's eldd farm.This land lay north of Abner Farnum,Jr.’
houge.In 1820 Filsk bullt his own houss,originally one story in hsight.
Age Blanchard of E@av 1 teadow used to say than the entire village then
boagted only thilrteen houses.Willian Fisk moved to "Concard 3treet" about
1833 and this, place became ths home prongrty of"Priest"Tennsy,firet wmin-
igter of the West Church. Rev.Aga P.Tenney whe,with his wife,appears in
this old micture of his howme standing im the dooryard Deside his chalse,
wag tns most notable figure iuv tha village 1ifs  a century and more agl.
For thirty-two yesrs he served the church end iest Parisgh in a life of
inceggant activity.His son,Rev.B.P.Tenncy,describtes hlas routine:

"He waked up,all new to Wils work ,evaery mornlig at two o' elock in
gummer and Four in winter,and with a boyish esxthusiagm sven tg old age
work=Cd two hourg before day;having an hour for devotions,and then in im=
mediate cornnsaction with it,taking hig waterial from the Bible Tor naxt
Sunday service~kindling hisg goul before forging the germort. In those early
morning hours he lsarnsd to pray,having at times enlnent paner in praye%i
(Granite Monthly Oct.I9I2) '

The figure of the forge thus used iﬁapprop?iate aince "¥riest”
Tenney began hlg career as a blacksmlth earning by hls trade the funds
for his education for ths ministry.Hie gsalary at Wegt Church was [our
hpndred and fifﬁy dollars but he added to this by worki ing hlag farm anc
by some work at hls ﬁradenﬁ@\delighted in horses and loved to drive a
fast one on the iee of Long pond gomewhat scandallizing certzin parishon-
s.He made his parish visits on herseback ¢or in a glg,singing hymns at
top of his volce,it ls sald.But he wag,abova all else,a preacher and Dr.

Bouton whoss judgment was excellent @21d-"I1 have heard him when I thought

he was the equal of Whitefield."
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During his years in West Parish,"Priest" Tenney averaged meore than four
germons a week for fifty-two weeks in the year and his church grew stead!
1ly in membership with larger gainsg through occasional rsvivalg.In addi-
tion to spiritual leadership,he exercised a profound intellectual influ-
zrice in his parisﬁ."There went out from West Barish twenty-seven young
ﬁg@ple at one timg to pursue advanced schooling.One district of forty
pupils furnishsd twelve physicians,ckrgymen,prof@ssional teachers or
scholarsiof'college grade." It i1s doubtful if thls record in a farming
community can be egqualled by the comblned a=ffort of minister and school
in any g=neration since "Briest"Tenney's day.

In 1827 Concord invested in a Town Farm.After due consideration

a farm in West Village bslonging to Timothy Walker 3d(b.I767),comprising
two hundred acrag,was purchzsed.This included intervale land between the
highway and the Merrimack river and?large tract west of the highway
along the south side of Rattlesnske brook.This latter portiogp of more
than one hundred acres was s0ld off by the town 1n house lote and wood
lots.The 0ld farm house used for the town vaupers,standsg today asg pic=-
tured.It is sald that the farm originally belonged to ffathaniel Rolfe
(b.I713:d4.1808) .Timothy Walker 3d,son of Judge Walker,had gone to Rum~
ford,Me.in his youth but returned to Concord,acquired this farm and en-
gaged in various industries both on Rattlesnake brook and at the Bor-
oughs «

A growing village offers opvortunity for a geheral store and so,ir
the soring of I830,Samuel Dimond bought a plece of land three rods on
the sast line of the highway and seven rods deep/and there he oOpened
hig store in a2 building which is the ell of what was for many years
after,th: Shevard stors.0n the north side of vpresent Hutching St.Moses
Farnum owned a hundred acre tract which he inhsarited from his father
and which was a part of hils father's inheritance from the pioneer Eph-

raim Farnum.Thie land was known in ths family as tha"Bull Meadow"and
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the lste Charles H.Farnum (083)) remempared haying therd as a boy.This
inclcates that the original Farnum vroverty included much of Drésent
West Concord,this being the north portion.In 1823 Sanuszl Dimond: had
vurchaged ninetzen acreg of land next east of the "Bull Meadow"with
cartain regervations which are of intgrest.fhe first of thess was'where
WidDW_Phebe Farnum lives",the second wag "the school house belonging

to 3rd District"and the last,"the building occuvlzd by John Elliott"s=
that ig,"Soldiar" John.

The Wildow Phebe was remembered up to recent years by the older
generation as"a bed-ridden invalid of great aga,wearing a wmob cap and
finding solace in her pipe." She was a grand dawghter of old Reuben Ab-
bot and had married Peter Farnum in IB804.Her 1ittle house stands at No.
é#@ Hutchins $t.The school houss stood in the wesgt angle of Knight 9t.
g 1t crosged Hutehine St.in the days whasn ths original Boscawen road
Tollowed this route.Widow Phsbs's hoﬁse atood jJust west of ths school
and "Soldier"John's house was a short distance north of the school.

The most ambitious project in the village of long ago.was launehed
in I831 by a Scotch millwright named Brodie.He persuadsd hig fellow coun-
tryman,Dr.Peter Renton of Concord Street,to bulld a flour mill.The
Joctor,in partnershlp with John Jarvis.who thep ownad the griai mill
next sputh of Isaac Dow's house,built a brick mill on the site of the
grigt mill.The location wag ideal since the abrﬁpt decline of land made
a natural plt for the old type overshot wheel which wag bullt to run
the mill by turning four rung of stones.Western whsat was brought from
Boston to Concord by thz Boallng Com@&ny(see Chanter %&18) and stored at
the Ffoot of Sewall's Falls ready for the milling.Unfortunately the enter=-
prise never justified the investment and in'1844 the property was sold
t@B,F.Holden whoge degcendents carried on the manufacturing of woolen

cloth for many years.Our plcture 1s a copy of a photograph taken wmany
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years ago when the old mill wag go flourishing that the newer one(now
the Hodgson mill) was baing buillt acrogs the hignway.The old mill was
torn down gome years ago.

In the years preceding the building of the Hodgson mill,various
gmall industrieg flourished on this mill lot.The house at the north
eand of the mill,now used ag ahe mill store,was the home of Enery Burges%
a chair maker by trade,who bought the lot ip 1831.Very near this house
gtood a gmithy which found lively trade émong nearby farmers and the
vatrons of the tavern on the opnegite corner.

Our old plcture of ths Shepard store ig interesting for a number
of reasons.lt shows the 11 which was Samusl Dimond"s stSPe,Iﬂ also
shows the hay scales ilndlspvensahble to that generation and ths fence
which set off the tavern.On the north side of ths store is‘an excellent
view of thse house of Abner Farnum,Jr.,the tanner.

Closely south of ths store stands an old house which may b= sgesn
in the vpicture of Isaac Dow's house.lt was the boyhood home of Rev.
George Marden{b.I836) who saved a gtruggling wéstern college mors than
fifty years ago.As a lad he was anxious for a good education and his
father wag ready to help,but when the youth decided to be a minister,
his father's retort was:"And be as poor as & chureh mousei" The young
minister wom his way and ventured west and found there a great task wnict
challenged his mind and spirit.Colorado College at Colorado Springs "waes
sinking into the ground"relatss Mr.Marden's sister,"although it had a
fine body of students."¥r.¥Marden gave uwm th2 ministry to traval over the
the eagt soliclting aid for the college among the church pgoovle.Such
was hisg success that th@.inétitution wag gsaved and 1t was possible to
eregct new buildings ph a campus wherg only two had gtood before.Through
Gzorge MN.Mgyrden's devotion,Colorado College flourisheg today,a llnk be-

iween ths youtn of the far west and thz village of West COncord.
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According to Mrs.Carrle Marden Smith,sister of e Mardsn, ths old
houge in West Concord had a well room-a largs room with & well forty-two
feet deen "where Mother used to put her butter in & pail and lower it
down into the wsll to keep it cool.® % Wather had a gtore next door o
our house~ the upper part wag his shoe ghop-a good rocm in front.In the
bagement was a grocery store." |

Joseph B-Walker once réminiséed about the houses which stood along

the highway between Concord and West Village when he was a youth,in the

!
thirties.The denge forest on eilther gide extended from the prezent ceme-
tery at Blossom Hill to the Farnum places north of the present railroad
erosging.There the housa of Banjamin Farnum(b.I739) stood on ths site of
the house of Charlss H.Parnum{uow the property of the Prigon) .Near the
ravine farthgr nortl gteod "the &néieﬂt y®llow building"which took the
placge of Ephraim Farnum's ploneer log cahin.Thils house wasg used ag a
tavern by Samié@l Farnum during the thirtieg.@%Qggtbyﬁ&n@ﬁaﬁouﬁﬁ oppoglte
Dolan 3t. was a tiny house in which two of Benjamin Farnun's daughters,
Mary(b.I1764)and Sarah(b.LT787) made their home for years.Thig house some-
what modified gtands now at Noazg%éN.Stat@ 8t . Famlly tradition says that
Moses Parnum was born in this housse in IT69. , ‘

The next house north on the east side of ths road wag that of Alex-~
ander Nichols,a laborer,and this house gtands today as pletured.Perhaps
the 11 wag ths original house.Next north were the Abbots in the large
house at Na382 N.State St.and beyond thers wers the Hown Farm and Absl
Baker's house.It 18 recorded that Abel Baker'ag daughters walked to Con-
coré for thelr schooling.

On the west side of ths highway ,Mr.Walksr recalled only thres
houges butween Blossom.Hill and Héttlesﬂake brook.Hear the Farnums Nathan
Brown had an elght acre place and a houss which heg bullt about I828 and

thers he earned hig living as "husbandman" .Next north lived Zebedish

William Taylor Glsason(b.IT787),a Vermontsr by birth,who ,came to Concord
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when he wag a young man to learn the stona cutting trade.Iln IBI2 he pur-
chaged a vary of the Moged Ferrin property south of Rattlesnake brook
aﬂd‘built a houss which stands today as pilctured.lin 1828 he took advantage
of the sale of lotg from the Town Farm proverty which adjoine his land
and bought a wadge of land which gave him acceds to the mill vond closely
weat ©of the present rallrodd track.A sample of Mr.Gleason's stons work is
the old Town Pound which hs built in I830 at a cost éf gixty-five dollarg
to Concord.His portralt isg an intéregting study in the eharacter of a sub-
gtantlal citizen of that time.It was probably made after ¥r.Gleason sold
his home in I844 and moved to his farm in Hackstt's Brook Neighborhood.

The third and last house rsacalled by Mr.Walker,was the®miller's
housewhich, in part at least,is gstanding teday on the south sidse of the
brook.It was for many years the home of the Holden family who owned the
mills.

With thz building of its church the village egtablished itselfl as
a spbgtantial amd self-sustaining community.The recerd of the time reaag:
"Persons residing to the wegterly part of Concord travel a dlstance from
one and a half to seven miles when attonding public worship,of whomn lese
than twp hundred of the severn hundred inhabitants usually attend meeting
on the Sabbath."For such inhabitaats the church was planned and a woéden
structure 63 x 48 feet with walis 19 fzet high with three windowg ©n each
gide and a low tower,was erected.on a lot somswhat norih of the2 present
church.The building was heated by a stovevplaced inconepicucusiy 1in the
vestibule-perhans in the hope that the prejudice which the older and mbre
congervative people somatimes felt over undue comfort in their house of
worship might be appeased.The new chureh wag dedicated in Jamiary 183%
but ehurch eorganization walted until the following Aprill whemeﬁghty~&ight
membars of the mother ¢hurch in Concord wers givem lettérs of dismissal

and recommendatien for the purpose.
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Tor nearly ® thivd of a demtury West Shurch was led by the extra-
ordinary personality of "Prigst" Temney-a peraenallty which combined

nhyetical and wmentdl vigor with a deep spiritual understanding.The church
graw in numbbrs and West Farish was blessed 1o mind and spirit thod mok-
lng its contribution to ths character of Concord.

The most ancient l&ﬁamark in ihe village is the avring which bubbles
out of ﬁhe bank at the Toot of Laks &t.Long before the hollow waboriks
trough of'granite there was a megsy trough of logs where travellers
loogenad the check rein Lo giV@'theiP‘siéaﬁg 2 drink and where the drive
himeelf refreched nis dusty throat with a draught of the sparkling water
Ty the days when electric cars ran hetween Concord and Fenacook,it wés
no unecommon occursnce on a hot day for the motormen to sgtop hisg car be-
aide the spring s that he and any massenger who wishad migh% drink the
cooling water.Ages before,mocsasined fset had made a trail to this spring
and perhaps decided then and there the present route of the Daniel Web-
ater Highway ag it leads north from Concord.

The first bridge across the Contoocook river which Caopt.Henry
Lovajoy and Johﬂ Fianders bullt wés replaced about 1805 by a new struc-
ture the expense of which was shared by the towns of Copcord and Bosg-
cawen.The new bridge occupled the site of the old one with lts sduth
pler near the later Axle Gomﬁany's foundry.It was bullt"mainly of logs ,
with a2 middle pier sduare like a log houss and filied with stones."

The most valwmable rellc of the old days in this neighﬁorhood,was

: tavern

deatroyed in recent years when Capt.John Chandler's’/on the north side
of the river and ow the Boscawen side of the village of Penacook, was
torn down to make way Tor a fllling station.It was one of the too few
examples of excellent colonial building left in this vieinity and it
had beed conaucted as a tavern continpuouwsly sinee Capt.John built 1%
in I787.Chandler owned much land along this north bank of the river

from the Merrimack on tha east to the vicinity of Hardy'e brook on the
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west .As trav:zl from the north country ilocreassd he gav the velua of this
location as a tavern site.His brother,Ce’.lsgasc Cpnandler,Bullt nearby
the house atill etanding as shown in our old picture,and thus began the
hamlet on th: north side of the Contoocook which,in time ,devslopad into
the village of Flshsrgville-later to be named Penacook.

The first bridge acrogs the @errlmack in thig vicinity was bullt
in I802 and,since Col.Ilgapc Chandler was the largest stockholder,it wag
known by hisg name.The embryo village was called"Chandler's Eridge"as
glven in deeds as early as 18I2.Thig new toll bridge was a vrofitable
enterprise since overland fﬁﬁght from the norih to Portsmouth and Newbega
port choss thie route uwtil the Concord Eoating Company begmmn to operate.
A freshet in I839 swevt the bridge away and a chain ferry was used until
185%.Canterbury bridge now occuples the site of the old bridge of 1802.

Col.Isaac Chandler built his house about the time ths tavern was
built.He had no children but whem a thirtseen year old Sanbornton lad came
to work for him in I80%4 and proved worthy,he gave him ths chance to learr
the trade of cloth dressing.Young William Hazeltine Gege made the most
of wmuch opportunity and in time he inherited the large farm of hig patrox
and became an influential citizen of the growing village.No one was bet-
ter or more favorably known than"Squire Bill Gage', justice of the peace
and practically the lawyer of ths village.Ths great Danlel Webster was
hig frisnd and,on his trips to his farm at Webster Place,the statesman
wos wont to stop for a call au SqiireGage's home.

Capt.John Chandler's son,Nathaﬁ, married Jane Rolfe,grand daughter
of Parson Welker and in 1806 he built the 1ittle house next east of the
tavern as shown in our plcture.When Cept.fdohn retired he lived here with
his son.In later years Nathan gold the house and it became the home of
Benjamin Kimball, famous millwright.There his gon,Benjamin Ames Kimball
wae born in 183%.Meanwhlle Nathaéifngshhought the house on Penacook
gt .which had been built by a man named Zaton.Benjamin A.Kimball and

his brother,John EKimball,



KKV . iy
Jeokn became two of the mogt able and influential men of their generation
in Concord.

The first schoolhouse in the villages wasg bullt abouf IBIS and'it
stood on the town line near the bridge for it served puplls in both Con-
cord and Boscawen as well as a few from Canterbury.Thdre were seldom more
than fourteen in attendance and tﬁose from Boscawen sat on the north gide
of the room(in Boscawen)while the villags youﬁéters from the Concord side
gat on th: south.This union schoolhouse wag uged at times for preachliag
gervices held by Dr.McFarland of Qoﬁcord or Dr.Nathan Wood of Boscawene.
Mét far from the schoolhouse there was an addy im the river known to that
vobashery near thg bridge.

On the south gside of the riv:r and within Concord limits, there
stopd until recent years the 1little house shown in our plcture.Jits site
wag closely east of the pregsent Police Station anmd although its early
history is not ¥nown,tradition says it ante~dated the Revoelution aild waeg
the oldest house in the vililege.Wimthirep £1lliott once lived In 1t and in
18%0 ha was making sheoes for the neighborhosd.According to Town Records
fje 1ived there as early as I822 when a road wag accepted from Eolfe's
landing on the Merrimack river to the Boscawen road/nearﬁgfnthrop Elliott
house .Prekably this is Merrimack St.of today.

Water power in the Contoocook river was the ineentive for‘the
l1ively mill village which took over the farms of long ago in this gection
Ag early as IT90 the lower falls were -utilized forr.a grist mill built by
Jeremiah Chandlef near the site of'tthresent Harris miiltIt was & prim-
1tive affalr with an overshot wheel outside the mill,run by water which
floweinhrough a penstock from above the falls.later Chandler bullt a saw

mill nearby end later stlll.@iillam Hazeltine Gage with hisg brother Rich-

ardlopened a Jumber business on the premises which developed into an im-

portant industry.

"‘X.E "€ L ey Tﬂ' o t’ngs 4’3,4:: 4 3‘3 ;
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About IB00,Hlichard Kimball and Jersmlahn Abbott bullt a carding
mill on the site of the present Harrig mill and 1t was well patronizsd
by the farmers who brought thelr wool to be carded into rplls which
their housewlves eould spln into yarn for weaving on thelr hand looms.
The woven cloth was retifrned to the mill for fulling aﬂé finishing.
These young men had a gtreak of daredevil 1in them for,dufiﬁé a apring
flood when the river is a wild terrent,ihey undertoolz to run the rapilds
from the Boirpugh to the Merrimack.Their boat was swall and gqulckly cap-
gized.Om this April day in I8I2 thelir bodies were found just above the
bridge near Chandler'a tavern.

It was after this fatality ihal yeung #@willlam Hazeltine Gage
having learned the carding and'fulling business,returned to Chandler's
Bridge and took over the Kimball and Abbott mill.He bullt a two-gtory
wooden mill,added a few looms to ths equiﬁment and thus establiched th e
first mill in this locality wblch carried out the emtire process of mak-
ing woolen clothy Thils old mill steod untilvthe nekgst of the Harris
mills took 1ts place.With succesg of the woolen mill assured,ir.Gage
took his brother Ri¢hard intﬁ partnarship and opsned a lumber business
on the site of the present Stratton milffﬂicharﬁ Gage married a daugh-
fer of Capt.John Cﬁandler.

The first saw mill on the Congord side of the river at the low-
er falls was bullt by Henry Rolfe in I82% on land later occupled by the
gymonds Table Shop(destfoyed by fire some ysars since) .Benjamin Kimball
wag the millwright in chargs of ceomstruction.A year earlisr an attempt
had been made to develop water nower at the falls in what 1is now the
cznter of the village,when George D.Varney of Dover bmught up consider-
able land thereabout and bullt a dam and the frame of a saw mill.Finan-
cial reverses halted his entervrise arid the saw mill was gold and moved
to ths Borough where it was set up on the Outlet!on the site now occu-~

pled by the west end of the Holden mill(Pipe Pactory)wherse the original

“f\""\" ‘BS'BI-\)EI‘ Gc)r' }ﬂ.
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road from the Borough to Penacook crossed the stream.

In IB%I,Benjamin Kimball bought th: Varney power rights and built
the dam and the brick grist mill at the fost of Brown's hill on the Bos-
cawen slde,using the stones from the old Chandler grist mill at the low-
er falls]no longer in use.The brick grist mill had a long and eontinuous
service and the Kimball dam offered ouportunity for manufacturing in 1lts
immediate neighborhood.in 1836 two brothers from Boston named Fisher,
built thes o0ld stone mill next north of the grist mill and marvufactured
3 coarag gfade of cotton eloth which they solc}. in the éouth for clothing
for plantation glaves.The Flghers did net remain long but their amter-
prige opéned the way for other mills.In their honor the growing village
Awas called Fishergville-later simplified to Fis&nervilla,and stlll 'lat.er
changed to Penacook. '

The Fishers so¢ld their plant to H.R.aund J.S.Brown,catton‘fmmmfam‘tixf—-
ers from Attleborg,Mass.who proeceded tg build the lafger stone mill
called the Pemacook mill apd latér”the big mill"called the f.H.Spinning
Mills in more yecent years,Thesé two mills ’wj@k their power from canals.
It was the Browns who'gave to the village ite fimt.lgreat impetusg to
growth and prcsperi_t,y“ , their name to khe hill(mm St.) vhere five gen-
srations of the clan have lived znd sundry windows to the Bgptist Chwreh
m’ﬁere the family wbr'aﬁii?ped.%e aceompany iy pleture of the peried fol-
lowime the Civil War,shows the deweloppuii-of the willege.The eovered
foridkfe on bhe new highway to Boscawen,was bullt about IB849 apd at its
.north end may be se¢ery the brick grist 'mill and the Fisher stone mill.

In I823 the tewm rectognized the grewing importance of Chandler's
Pridge by ac¢etepting a road from the older mill settlement at the Forough
the line of the road being practically the same ag present Wé;s}hing;ton St,
except that the bridge over the dutlet was near the location of the
present Holdem mill(Pipe Factory) .Prior te 1823 travel into Ghandler's

'Bridge seems to have been by way of the Borough road and what 1s now
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West Main 3t.

A century aid more ago,the land now occupled by the thickly set-
t1l2d portion of Penacook was afhuwdred acre farm owtied by Cgpt.John Sowe
yer,purchaged by hia in 832 from William H.and Richard Gage .Capt .Sawyer
narried Phepe Ellloit,gister of Theodore Elliott of the Borough and not
only éid he carry on this farm but he followed the trade of carpenter
ag well.Hig two~story house stocd on thz’gite of the prasent Washington
Howage and,it lg saild,formsg a part of ths 211 of the hotel.In comvany
with Joserh Bastman of West Villagoe,the Gavtain built the hotel ivw 1847,
Captaln Sawyer's gzcond homs in the village was a brick story and half
houss which gtooa on the site of Bxchange EBlock,with a blg barn on the
gite of Gravhic Block.West of the buildings 2 1little brook with plenti-
fpl water cress,flowad down the glovse inte the Contoocook.Our picture
ahows this attractive 1ittl: house ag 1t stande now in the rear of Bx-
change Block.Ths eagterly bound of this old farm wag a rangeway which
ran south from the Contoocook rivar in the vicimlty of High St.and the
wegterly bound was near the Outlet.

Captain Bawyer's commission wag in the rd Infantry(IB32) and
he wag aleo captain of thes famous Jackson Rifles in the lasgt year of
thair existence(I845) .He profited well by the industrial developmsnt of
téis community for his farm was cut int¢ hougelots which found ready
sale.He was a man res?eetea for bis integrity in all his many activitiee
religious,elvic,financial and goeial.

The men who developed this.village_were ol whe ecombined with
their businsss enérgy and shrewdnessg,a concerm for the Kingdom of God.
Among them,Capt.Abial Rolfe gstands owt for hig zeal in religious work.
For many years before a church was organizsd in the cemmunity,he held
meetings and did what wag practically a vagtoral work aweng his neigh-
bors.It was his custom to hold Sundsy School in the unioﬁ gchoolhouse

early on Sunday morning,aftesr which he harnessed his horse and drove t0
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tha old Meeting~house in Goncord where he gervad ag deacon.Aft@r the
long morrning service he drove home for his dinngr and after dinner he
drovs to Horsa-hill schoolhouss wherd he held a Sunday School and a
orayer mseting.Singularly clean in gpeeeh and in character,kind and wise
in his judgments,Dea.Rolfe was greaxtly beloved in {hls villags and his
inflwence toward 1lts wmorals ig not 1o be @é&imated.

It was net wntil I843 that the firgt church edifice was bullt in
the village by the Christian denomination on land donated by Bouben
Jehnson.Fiwe yearg later thes organirzation sold i1t4 bullding to the newly
formad Congrégational Soclety and tharéatter held gervices-in a hall
until the cnurch digpanded a fewryearé.later,Thoae villagers who Tollowe
the Bantisgt doctrines atliendec the chﬁrch of that falth in Boscawen un-
til 1845 when, through the initidtive of Hemry H.and Johw $.Brown,the
Firagt Baptigt Ghureh of Fisherville was established.Thair father,ﬁavid
Brown,with Bepnjamin Hoyt were elected deacong and a sglore on the site
of Dr.A,C.Alexander's house was purchased and fitted up as Wsion hall
for use ag a church.lthe vragsnt church wag bullt and dedicated in I868.
The Congregational church numbered awmong its original nmewvbdrs,Richard
Gags and hig gpn,Calvin,and a new-comer to ths village,Almon Harris,
who establlshed the Harrig millg-the only on=z of the o0ld enteryrises
which continues business to this day. (Gﬁvﬁed grnce ”*rﬁ%sﬁa>

Such was the development of Chandler's Bridge into Penacook
which, for three or more generationg,was a center of varied and progper-
ous industriesgThrougheut the years tha,businega men of this village

contributed definitely teo the uypbullding of Concord 1w weallthh and in

the eharacteor of hér eiltlizenship.



